
 

 

  

 
      May 2, 2017  
 
VIA ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION  
 
The Honorable Rod J. Rosenstein  
Deputy Attorney General 
U.S. Department of Justice 
950 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW 
Washington, DC 20530 
 
Dear Mr. Rosenstein, 

Now that you have been confirmed as Deputy Attorney General, it is vital that you begin 
to closely supervise and oversee the FBI’s handling of politically charged, high-profile and 
controversial investigations.  In the past several months, the Committee has sought greater 
transparency regarding Deputy Director Andrew McCabe’s role in those investigations and the 
appearance of political bias that his involvement creates.  Public reports of his meeting with a 
longtime Clinton and Democrat party fundraiser, Governor Terry McAuliffe, and his wife’s 
subsequent campaign for public office being substantially funded by McAuliffe’s organization 
raise serious questions about his ability to appear impartial.  The FBI provided unsatisfactory 
answers to those questions.     

On October 28, 2016, I wrote to the FBI about Deputy Director McCabe’s conflicts in the 
Clinton investigation and the reported FBI investigation into Gov. Terry McAuliffe’s potential 
violation of federal campaign laws.  On December 14, 2016, the FBI responded but failed to 
provide the requested records of communications among FBI officials or answer important 
questions relating to the Clinton and McAuliffe investigations.  Further, on March 28, 2017, I 
wrote to the FBI inquiring about Mr. McCabe’s level of involvement in the investigation into 
alleged collusion between Mr. Trump’s associates and Russia prior to the election.  Recently, 
reports have indicated that the FBI may be setting up a special unit, overseen by Mr. McCabe, to 
investigate these allegations.1 

Mr. McCabe is already under investigation by the Department of Justice Office of 
Inspector General for failing to recuse himself from the Clinton investigation due to his meeting 
with McAuliffe.  After that meeting, McAuliffe-aligned political groups donated about $700,000 
to Mr. McCabe’s wife, Dr. McCabe, for her campaign to become a Democrat state Senator in 
Virginia.  The Wall Street Journal has reported that 98% of the Gov. McAuliffe related donations 
to Dr. McCabe came after the FBI launched the investigation into Secretary Clinton.2  As you are 
aware, Gov. McAuliffe has been a close associate of Secretary Clinton and former President Bill 

                                                           
1 David J. Lynch, “FBI plans to create special unit to co-ordinate Russia probe,” Financial Times (April 2, 2017).  Available at 
https://www.ft.com/content/40498d94-155b-11e7-80f4-13e067d5072c 
2 Wall Street Journal Editorial, “The FBI’s Clinton Probe Gets Curiouser,” (October 24, 2016).  Available at 
http://www.wsj.com/articles/the-fbi-clinton-probe-gets-curiouser-1477352522 

https://www.ft.com/content/40498d94-155b-11e7-80f4-13e067d5072c
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Clinton for many decades.  Naturally, the financial and political links between Mr. McCabe and 
Gov. McAuliffe raise concerns about the appearance of impartiality in the course of not only the 
Clinton investigation, but the reported McAuliffe investigation, and the ongoing investigation of 
alleged ties between associates of Mr. Trump and Russia.    

In February 2016, three months after Dr. McCabe lost her election bid, Mr. McCabe 
became the FBI’s second in command and, according to the FBI, “assumed responsibility for the 
Clinton email investigation.”  The FBI merely asserted that with respect to the Clinton 
investigation, “[b]ased on these facts, it did not appear that there was a conflict of interest – 
actual or apparent – that required recusal or waiver.”   

 However, according to the FBI ethics memorandum applicable to Mr. McCabe and 
provided in its December 14 response, there were other matters the FBI identified where Mr. 
McCabe’s “disassociation would be appropriate.”  Notably, Mr. McCabe was the approval 
authority for his own memorandum, so it is unclear who provided oversight of the recusal 
process outside the FBI itself, if anyone.  The memo says:  

“[s]pecifically, all public corruption investigations arising out of or 
otherwise connected to the Commonwealth of Virginia present 
potential conflicts, as Dr. McCabe is running for state office and is 
supported by the Governor of Virginia. Therefore, out of an 
abundance of caution, the ADIC will be excluded from any 
involvement in all such cases.”   

The scope of that recusal would include the reported investigation into Gov. McAuliffe.  The 
memo also says, “[t]his protocol will be reassessed and adjusted as necessary and at the 
conclusion of Dr. McCabe’s campaign in November 2015.”   

 The FBI did not explain whether the protocol was reassessed when Dr. McCabe lost her 
election bid in November 2015 or what the scope of any remaining recusal was, if any, after the 
end of her campaign.  Thus, it is unclear whether Mr. McCabe is still recused from the reported 
McAuliffe investigation.  However, the FBI’s December 14 response made clear that Mr. 
McCabe’s “disassociation” from Virginia-related cases would merely be followed “for the 
remainder of [Dr. McCabe’s] campaign.”  This implies that once the campaign ended, Mr. 
McCabe was free again to oversee any investigation related to the man who recruited his wife to 
run for office and the organizations that provided her approximately $700,000 to do so.  

 With respect to the Russia investigation, during the week of March 20, 2017, Director 
Comey publicly testified that in late July of 2016, the FBI began investigating the Russian 
government’s attempts to interfere in the 2016 presidential election, including alleged collusion 
between individuals associated with the Trump campaign and the Russian government.  The 
inquiry appears to have arisen during the same time that there was intense public controversy 
over the FBI’s handling of the Clinton email investigation.  On April 17, 2017, the FBI 
responded to my March 28, 2017, letter regarding Mr. McCabe’s involvement in the 
investigation into the Russian Government’s efforts to interfere in the 2016 election.  In that 
response, the FBI said, “the FBI has assessed that there is no basis in law or in fact for such a 
recusal,” without providing any reasoning, rationale, or documentation to support this conclusory 
statement.   
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Further, according to public reports, the FBI agreed to pay Christopher Steele, the author 
of the unsubstantiated dossier alleging a conspiracy between Trump associates and the Russians.  
Clinton associates also reportedly paid Mr. Steele to create the dossier against Mr. Trump.  The 
FBI has failed to publicly reply to my March 6, 2017, letter asking about those reports.  That 
leaves serious questions about the FBI’s independence from politics unanswered.  

Mr. McCabe’s appearance of a partisan conflict of interest relating to Clinton associates 
only magnifies the importance of the Committee’s unanswered questions.  This is particularly 
true if Mr. McCabe was involved in approving or establishing the FBI’s reported arrangement 
with Mr. Steele, or if Mr. McCabe vouched for or otherwise relied on the politically-funded 
dossier in the course of the investigation.  Simply put, the American people should know if the 
FBI’s second-in-command relied on Democrat-funded opposition research to justify an 
investigation of the Republican presidential campaign.  Full disclosure is especially important 
since he is already under investigation by the Department of Justice Office of Inspector General 
for failing to recuse himself from the Clinton matter due to his partisan Democrat ties. 

These same conflict of interest concerns exist with Mr. McCabe’s involvement in any 
potential investigation into what appear to be multiple politically motivated leaks of classified 
information related to the Russia controversy. 

As a general matter, all government employees must avoid situations that create even the 
appearance of impropriety and impartiality so as to not affect the public perception of the 
integrity of an investigation.3  Importantly, the FBI Ethics and Integrity Program Guide cites 28 
C.F.R. § 45.2 which states that,    
 

no employee shall participate in a criminal investigation if he has a 
personal or political relationship with […] [a]ny person or 
organization substantially involved in the conduct that is the subject 
of the investigation or prosecution; or [a]ny person or organization 
which he knows has a specific and substantial interest that would be 
directly affected by the outcome of the investigation or prosecution.4 

 
As applied to Mr. McCabe’s role in the Clinton, McAuliffe, Trump associates investigation, and 
leak investigation, these rules demand that he and the FBI take steps to ensure that no appearance 
of a loss of impartiality undermines public confidence in the work of the Bureau.  The FBI has 
failed to show the Committee that it has taken those necessary steps. 
 

                                                           
3 Specifically, 5 C.F.R. § 2635.502, advises that a government employee should seek clearance before participating in any matter 
that could cause his or her impartiality to be questioned.   Executive Order 12674, “Principles of Ethical Conduct for Government 
Officers and Employees,” makes clear that “[e]mployees shall not hold financial interests that conflict with the conscientious 
performance of duty,” “[e]mployees shall act impartially and not give preferential treatment to any private organization or 
individual,” and “[e]mployees shall endeavor to avoid any actions creating the appearance that they are violating the law or the 
ethical standards promulgated pursuant to this order.”  FBI Ethics and Integrity Program Policy Guide, p. 29 and 30, citing 
Executive Order 12674.  Emphasis added.  If the employee’s supervisor determines that a personal or political relationship exists 
the employee shall be relieved unless the supervisor determines, in writing, the relationship “would not create an appearance of a 
conflict of interest likely to affect the public perception of the integrity of the investigation or prosecution.” FBI Ethics and 
Integrity Program Policy Guide, p. 30.  Emphasis added. 
4 Id. at 30. Emphasis added.  
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Accordingly, a significant cloud of doubt has been cast over the FBI’s work.  Due to the 
FBI’s continued failure to adequately respond to the Committee, please answer the following 
questions: 
 

1. What steps do you plan to take to ensure that the publicly acknowledged investigation 
into alleged collusion with Russian efforts to influence the elections is not tainted with 
the appearance of political bias due to the information outlined above?  

 

2. What steps do you plan to take to ensure that the apparent leaks of classified information 
related to contacts between Trump associates and Russians are fully and impartially 
investigated, given that several senior FBI officials, including Mr. McCabe, are potential 
suspects with access to the leaked information?  
 

3. What steps do you plan to take to ensure that the reported investigation related to Gov. 
McAuliffe was or is being fully and impartially investigated given that Deputy Director 
McCabe’s recusal appears to have ended at the time that his wife was no longer a 
candidate for elected office? 
 

In addition, due to the FBI’s failure to answer any McAuliffe related questions, I am attaching 
the Committee’s October 28, 2016, letter for your reference with a request that the Justice 
Department answer questions 11 and 12(a)-(g).  In addition, I am attaching the March 6, 2017, 
and March 28, 2017, letters to the FBI for your review.   

I anticipate that your written reply and any responsive documents will be unclassified. 
Please send all unclassified material directly to the Committee. In keeping with the requirements 
of Executive Order 13526, if any of the responsive documents do contain classified information, 
please segregate all unclassified material within the classified documents, provide all 
unclassified information directly to the Committee, and provide a classified addendum to the 
Office of Senate Security. Although the Committee complies with all laws and regulations 
governing the handling of classified information, it is not bound, absent its prior agreement, by 
any handling restrictions or instructions on unclassified information unilaterally asserted by the 
Executive Branch.  
 

Thank you in advance for your cooperation with this request.  Please respond no later 
than May 16, 2017 and number your answers according to their corresponding questions. If you 
have questions, contact Josh Flynn-Brown or Patrick Davis of my Judiciary Committee staff at 
(202) 224-5225. 
 

Sincerely, 
 

 
Charles E. Grassley    
Chairman  

                Committee on the Judiciary 



 

October 28, 2016 

 

VIA ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION 

 

The Honorable James B. Comey, Jr.    

Director  

Federal Bureau of Investigation  

935 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W.  

Washington, D.C. 20535 

 

Dear Director Comey,  

 

 On October 23, 2016, the Wall Street Journal reported a set of troubling facts about 

potential conflicts of interest in the criminal investigation into Secretary of State Hillary Clinton.  

That news article noted that Virginia Governor Terry McAuliffe’s political action committee 

donated $467,500 to Dr. Jill McCabe’s state Senate campaign in 2015.1  In addition, the Wall 

Street Journal reported that the Virginia Democrat Party, “over which Mr. McAuliffe exerts 

considerable control,” also donated $207,788 to her campaign.2  Dr. McCabe is married to 

Andrew McCabe who is currently deputy director of the FBI, and became part of the leadership 

that oversaw the Clinton email investigation in 2016.  Gov. McAuliffe is long-time confidant of 

Bill and Hillary Clinton and served as President Clinton’s chief fundraiser in the 1990s.  It is 

well reported and known that Gov. McAuliffe and the Clintons have been close associates for 

decades and it begs the question why Mr. McCabe was allowed to be in a position to exert 

oversight upon the Clinton investigation knowing that his wife was provided over half a million 

dollars by entities tied so closely to Gov. McAuliffe and the Clintons. 

 

The Wall Street Journal has reported that the FBI did not see Mr. McCabe’s position as a 

conflict of interest concerning the Clinton email investigation because his wife’s campaign had 

ended by the time he stepped into a supervisory position in the investigation, which seems to 

concede any involvement during her campaign could have been a conflict.3  Notably, even before 

his supervisory position as deputy director, Mr. McCabe was in charge of the FBI’s Washington, 

D.C. field office which, according to the Wall Street Journal, “provided personnel and resources 

                                                           
1 Devlin Barret, “Clinton Ally Aided Campaign of FBI Official’s Wife,” Wall Street Journal (October 23, 2016).  Available at 

http://www.wsj.com/articles/clinton-ally-aids-campaign-of-fbi-officials-wife-1477266114 
2 Id.  
3 Id.  
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to the Clinton email probe.”4  In July 2015, around the time the FBI’s Clinton investigation 

began, Mr. McCabe was promoted to associate deputy director at FBI headquarters – the number 

three in the chain of command.5  The FBI asserts that Mr. McCabe did not have an “oversight 

role” in the Clinton investigation until he became the number two in command in 2016.6  

However, the FBI’s statement does not foreclose the possibility that Mr. McCabe had a non-

oversight role while associate deputy director.  Thus, even during the time period in which his 

wife’s political campaign received approximately half a million dollars from Gov. McAuliffe’s 

political action committee, and over $200,000 from the Virginia Democrat Party, he may have 

had a role in the investigation and did not recuse himself.   

 

In October 2015, several months after his promotion, Gov. McAuliffe’s political action 

committee made three donations of more than $100,000 to his wife’s campaign.7  Prior to 

October, and prior to his promotion, the largest donation was $7,500.8  The Wall Street Journal 

has reported that 98% of the Gov. McAuliffe related donations to his wife came after the FBI 

launched the investigation into Secretary Clinton.9  Given these facts, the FBI must provide a 

more detailed explanation as to why it determined that it was appropriate for Mr. McCabe to 

participate in that investigation in any way. 

 

Also, separate and distinct from the Clinton investigation, it has been reported that the 

FBI’s Washington field office, the same one which Mr. McCabe led, started an investigation into 

Gov. McAuliffe for allegedly receiving over $100,000 in campaign contributions from foreign 

entities.10  The FBI has stated that Mr. McCabe was recused from the McAuliffe investigation 

when his wife chose to run for office.11  It is unclear as to whether Mr. McCabe returned to the 

investigation when the campaign ended.12 

 

As a general matter, all government employees must avoid situations that create even the 

appearance of impropriety.  Specifically, 5 C.F.R. § 2635.502, advises that a government 

employee should seek clearance before participating in any matter that could cause his or her 

                                                           
4 Devlin Barret, “Clinton Ally Aided Campaign of FBI Official’s Wife,” Wall Street Journal (October 23, 2016).  Available at 

http://www.wsj.com/articles/clinton-ally-aids-campaign-of-fbi-officials-wife-1477266114.   
5 Id.  
6 Id. The FBI released a statement saying, “[m]onths after the completion of her campaign, then-Associate Deputy Director 

McCabe was promoted to Deputy, where, in that position, he assumed for the first time, an oversight role in the investigation into 

Secretary Clinton’s emails.”  See Devlin Barret, “Clinton Ally Aided Campaign of FBI Official’s Wife,” Wall Street Journal 

(October 23, 2016).  Available at http://www.wsj.com/articles/clinton-ally-aids-campaign-of-fbi-officials-wife-1477266114  
7 October 1, 2015 - $150,000; October 27, 2015 - $125,000; October 29, 2015 - $175,000.  See VPAP.org, 

http://www.vpap.org/donors/248345/recipient/257117/?start_year=2015&end_year=2015&recip_type=all 
8 Id.  
9 Wall Street Journal Editorial, “The FBI’s Clinton Probe Gets Curiouser,” (October 24, 2016).  Available at 

http://www.wsj.com/articles/the-fbi-clinton-probe-gets-curiouser-1477352522 
10 Devlin Barret, “FBI Investigating Donations to Virginia Gov. Terry McAuliffe,” Wall Street Journal (May 23, 2016).  

Available at http://www.wsj.com/articles/fbi-investigating-donations-to-virginia-gov-terry-mcauliffe-1464046899 
11 Gregory S. Schneider, “Why the latest Hillary Clinton conspiracy might not be what it seems,” The Washington Post (October 

24, 2016.)  Available at https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/post-politics/wp/2016/10/24/why-the-latest-clinton-conspiracy-

might-not-be-what-it-seems/ 
12 Id. The article notes the FBI said, “[w]hen she chose to run . . . McCabe and FBI lawyers implemented a system of recusal 

from all FBI investigative matters involving Virginia politics, a process followed for the remainder of her campaign.”  The 

implication is that he returned to the investigation when the campaign ended. 
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impartiality to be questioned.  In addition, when impartiality is at issue, the employee should 

obtain a formal determination from the component superior that participation outweighs the 

concern that the FBI’s integrity would be questioned.13  The Wall Street Journal reports that Mr. 

McCabe did seek ethics advice in March 2015 after he and his wife met with Gov. McAuliffe.  

However, it is not clear from which officials he sought advice, what guidance he received from 

the FBI, and whether he sought additional guidance after he was twice promoted to a position 

that had an apparent increased role in the Clinton investigation. 14  In addition, with respect to the 

McAuliffe investigation, it is unclear whether he returned to the investigation after recusal and, if 

so, what ethics guidance he received. 

 

Executive Order 12674, “Principles of Ethical Conduct for Government Officers and 

Employees,” makes clear that “[e]mployees shall not hold financial interests that conflict with 

the conscientious performance of duty,” “[e]mployees shall act impartially and not give 

preferential treatment to any private organization or individual,” and “[e]mployees shall 

endeavor to avoid any actions creating the appearance that they are violating the law or the 

ethical standards promulgated pursuant to this order.”15   Importantly, the FBI Ethics and 

Integrity Program Guide cites 28 C.F.R. § 45.2 which states that,    

 

no employee shall participate in a criminal investigation if he has a 

personal or political relationship with […] [a]ny person or 

organization substantially involved in the conduct that is the subject 

of the investigation or prosecution; or [a]ny person or organization 

which he knows has a specific and substantial interest that would be 

directly affected by the outcome of the investigation or 

prosecution.16 

 

In complying with this rule, the employee must report the matter to his supervisor.  If the 

supervisor determines that a personal or political relationship exists the employee shall be 

relieved unless the supervisor determines, in writing, the relationship will not “render the 

employee’s service less than fully impartial and professional” and the employee’s participation 

“would not create an appearance of a conflict of interest likely to affect the public perception of 

the integrity of the investigation or prosecution.”17  As applied to Mr. McCabe’s role in the 

Clinton email investigation and McAuliffe investigation, these rules demand that he and the FBI 

take steps to ensure that not even the appearance of a loss of impartiality is present.  Further, 

given Mr. McCabe’s potential role in both investigations, which has not been fully explained by 

the FBI, his wife’s substantial campaign donations from Gov. McAuliffe’s political action 

                                                           
13 5 C.F.R. § 2635.502(d). 
14 For example, it is not clear whether or not Mr. McCabe sought guidance from you or the Designated Agency Ethics Official 

regarding his potential conflict of interest or whether he sought a waiver to continue in his role in the Clinton investigation. The 

FBI Ethics and Integrity Policy Guide Section 4.6.1.2 notes that an employee who is concerned that circumstances would cause 

questions as to his impartiality should speak with ethics officials. 
15 FBI Ethics and Integrity Program Policy Guide, p. 29 and 30, citing Executive Order 12674.  Emphasis added. 
16 Id. at 30. Emphasis added.  
17 Id. Emphasis added. 
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committee and the Democrat party potentially create the appearance of a conflict of interest that 

has affected the public perception of the integrity of both investigations.  This is problematic and 

the rules are designed to prevent these types of issues from occurring. 

 

 The FBI has repeatedly stated that the Clinton investigation was apolitical and you have 

said that FBI personnel “don’t give a rip about politics.”18  Further, you have stated, “I want the 

American people to know we really did this the right way.  You can disagree with us, but you 

cannot fairly say we did it in any kind of political way.”19  The FBI’s Ethics and Integrity Policy 

Guide specifically notes that “[w]hether particular circumstances created an appearance that the 

law or [FBI ethical standards] have been violated shall be determined from the perspective of a 

reasonable person with knowledge of the relevant facts.”20 

 

Since the Clinton investigation ended, the public’s knowledge of the relevant facts has 

rightfully increased substantially.  The public now knows that the investigation’s scope was 

arbitrarily limited to classifications issues, with little or no effort to make a case against anyone 

for intentionally alienating federal records and subverting the Freedom of Information Act 

process.  Moreover, the Justice Department apparently failed to authorize any compulsory 

process through search warrants or grand jury subpoenas.21  This resulted in generous grants of 

immunity to Secretary Clinton’s associates because of their refusal to cooperate voluntarily 

except under the terms and limitations most favorable to them—including an inexplicable 

agreement for the FBI to destroy laptops that contained records subject to congressional 

subpoenas and preservation letters.   On top of these circumstances, now the public learns that 

the wife of the FBI’s second in command accepted more than half a million dollars from a close 

associate of Secretary Clinton, with 98% of the donations received after the FBI began its 

investigation.  And, separate from the Clinton investigation, it is not clear whether Mr. McCabe 

has rejoined the investigation into Mr. McAuliffe after his wife’s campaign received substantial 

donations.  Accordingly, it is reasonable for the public to question the impartiality of the process. 

 

In order to better understand the context of the facts reported in the press about Mr. 

McCabe, please answer and provide the following: 

 

1. Please describe Mr. McCabe’s role in the Clinton investigation as assistant director in 

charge of the FBI’s Washington, D.C. field office, associate deputy director, and as 

deputy director of the FBI. 

 

                                                           
18 Evan Perez, “FBI chief on Clinton investigation: My people ‘don’t give a rip about politics,’” CNN (October 1, 2015).  

Available at http://www.cnn.com/2015/10/01/politics/james-comey-fbi-hillary-clinton/ 
19 Everett Rosenfeld, “FBI Director Comey says ‘nobody would’ bring a case against Clinton,” CNBC (July 7, 2016).  Available 

at http://www.cnbc.com/2016/07/07/fbi-director-comey-our-recommendation-was-apolitical.html 
20 FBI Ethics and Integrity Program Policy Guide, p. 35. 
21 Malia Zimmerman and Adam Housley, “FBI, DOJ roiled by Comey, Lynch decision to let Clinton slide by on emails, says 

insider,” FoxNews (October 13, 2016).  Available at http://www.foxnews.com/politics/2016/10/13/fbi-doj-roiled-by-comey-

lynch-decision-to-let-clinton-slide-by-on-emails-says-insider.html 
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2. Please provide all records relating to communications between and among FBI officials 

relating to the conflict of interest issues pertaining to the candidacy of Mr. McCabe’s 

wife for public office or his involvement in the Clinton email investigation. 

 

3. The Wall Street Journal reported that Mr. McCabe met with Gov. McAuliffe and then 

sought ethics advice from the FBI.  When did he meet with Gov. McAuliffe, where, and 

under what circumstances? What ethics components did he contact? What was the FBI’s 

advice to Mr. McCabe?  Did he follow that advice? Please explain. 

 

4. After Mr. McCabe was promoted twice, did he seek further ethics advice after each 

promotion?  If so, please detail each instance in which he sought advice from the FBI and 

which FBI component and employees provided the ethics guidance.   

 

5. Were you aware of Mr. McCabe’s potential conflicts? If so, when and how did you 

become aware?  If not, why not? 

 

6. Did the FBI perform a conflicts analysis under 28 C.F.R. § 45.2?  If so, when and what 

was the conclusion?  If not, why not?   

 

7. Was a waiver analysis under 5 C.F.R. § 2635.502(d) performed?  If so, when?  In 

addition, please provide all records relating to the analysis and issuance of the waiver(s), 

including copies of the written waivers.  If no analysis was performed, why not? 

 

8. Did Mr. McCabe have a political or personal relationship with Gov. McAuliffe or his 

political action committee as defined in 28 C.F.R. § 45.2?  If not, why not?  

 

9. Did Mr. McCabe’s involvement in the Clinton investigation as the assistant director in 

charge of the Washington, D.C. field office, as associate deputy director, and as the 

deputy director of the FBI create the appearance of a loss of impartiality?  Please explain. 

 

10. Did Mr. McCabe’s involvement in the Clinton investigation as the assistant director in 

charge of the Washington, D.C. field office, as associate deputy director, and as the 

deputy director of the FBI affect the public perception of the investigation? Please 

explain. 

 

11. What steps are you taking to mitigate the appearance of a conflict of interest in the 

Clinton email investigation and to reassure Congress and the American people that the 

investigation was not subject to political bias?   

 

12. It is not clear when the investigation into Gov. McAuliffe’s foreign campaign donations 

started, and which FBI officials have been involved.  However, given Mr. McCabe’s 

position at the FBI in the last two years, it is imperative that the FBI inform Congress 

about his potential role in this investigation.  Please answer the following: 
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a. Please describe Mr. McCabe’s role in the Gov. McAuliffe investigation.   

b. When was Mr. McCabe recused from the McAuliffe investigation?  Please 

provide exact dates and provide all records relating to the recusal. 

c. When Mr. McCabe and his wife met with Mr. McAuliffe in March 2015, did Mr. 

McCabe have a role in the McAuliffe investigation at that time?  If so, what was 

his role and at what point thereafter did Mr. McCabe recuse himself?  

d. Did Mr. McCabe return to the McAuliffe investigation after his wife’s campaign 

ended?  If so, please explain why his participation does not cause the appearance 

of a loss of impartiality or a conflict of interest.  In addition, please note exactly 

when Mr. McCabe returned to the investigation.  

e. Did Mr. McCabe report any ethical issues to FBI officials relating to the 

McAuliffe investigation?  If so, provide all records relating to his reports and the 

FBI’s final determination, to include all waivers.   

f. Was a waiver analysis under 5 C.F.R. § 2635.502(d) performed?  If so, when?  In 

addition, please provide all records relating to the analysis and issuance of the 

waiver(s), including copies of the written waivers.  If no analysis was performed, 

why not? 

g. Did the FBI perform a conflicts analysis under 28 C.F.R. § 45.2?  If so, when and 

what was the conclusion?  If not, why not?   

 

Please answer the questions according to their corresponding questions.  I anticipate that 

your written reply and any responsive documents will be unclassified.  Please send all 

unclassified material directly to the Committee.  In keeping with the requirements of Executive 

Order 13526, if any of the responsive documents do contain classified information, please 

segregate all unclassified material within the classified documents, provide all unclassified 

information directly to the Committee, and provide a classified addendum to the Office of Senate 

Security.  Although the Committee complies with all laws and regulations governing the 

handling of classified information, it is not bound, absent its prior agreement, by any handling 

restrictions or instructions on unclassified information unilaterally asserted by the Executive 

Branch. 

Thank you in advance for your cooperation with this request.  Please respond no later 

than November 14, 2016.  If you have questions, contact Josh Flynn-Brown of my Committee 

staff at (202) 224-5225. 

 

Sincerely, 

 
Charles E. Grassley    

Chairman  

                Committee on the Judiciary 
 



 

 

March 6, 2017 

VIA ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION 

The Honorable James B. Comey, Jr. 
Director 
Federal Bureau of Investigation 
935 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W. 
Washington, DC 20535  

Dear Director Comey: 
   
 On February 28, 2017, the Washington Post reported that the FBI reached an agreement a few 
weeks before the Presidential election to pay the author of the unsubstantiated dossier alleging a 
conspiracy between President Trump and the Russians, Christopher Steele, to continue investigating 
Mr. Trump.1  The article claimed that the FBI was aware Mr. Steele was creating these memos as part 
of work for an opposition research firm connected to Hillary Clinton.  The idea that the FBI and 
associates of the Clinton campaign would pay Mr. Steele to investigate the Republican nominee for 
President in the run-up to the election raises further questions about the FBI’s independence from 
politics, as well as the Obama administration’s use of law enforcement and intelligence agencies for 
political ends.  It is additionally troubling that the FBI reportedly agreed to such an arrangement given 
that, in January of 2017, then-Director Clapper issued a statement stating that “the IC has not made any 
judgment that the information in this document is reliable, and we did not rely upon it in any way for 
our conclusions.”  According to the Washington Post, the FBI’s arrangement with Mr. Steele fell 
through when the media published his dossier and revealed his identity.     
 
 The Committee requires additional information to evaluate this situation.  Please provide the 
following information and respond to these questions by March 20, 2017.  Please also schedule a 
briefing by that date by FBI personnel with knowledge of these issues. 
 

1. All FBI records relating to the agreement with Mr. Steele regarding his investigation of 
President Trump and his associates, including the agreement itself, all drafts, all internal FBI 

                                                   
1 Tom Hamburger and Rosalind Helderman, FBI Once Planned to Pay Former British Spy Who Authored Controversial 
Trump Dossier, THE WASHINGTON POST (Feb. 28, 2017). 
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communications about the agreement, all FBI communications with Mr. Steele about the 
agreement, all FBI requests for authorization for the agreement, and all records documenting 
the approval of the agreement. 
 

2. All records, including 302s, of any FBI meetings or interviews with Mr. Steele.   
 

3. All FBI policies, procedures, and guidelines applicable when the FBI seeks to fund an 
investigator associated with a political opposition research firm connected to a political 
candidate, or with any outside entity. 
 

4. All FBI records relating to agreements and payments made to Mr. Steele in connection with 
any other investigations, including the reported agreements relating to his investigation of 
FIFA. 

  
5. Were any other government officials outside of the FBI involved in discussing or authorizing 

the agreement with Mr. Steele, including anyone from the Department of Justice or the Obama 
White House?  If so, please explain who was involved and provide all related records.  
 

6. How did the FBI first obtain Mr. Steele’s Trump investigation memos?  Has the FBI obtained 
additional memos from this same source that were not published by Buzzfeed?  If so, please 
provide copies.  
 

7. Has the FBI created, or contributed to the creation of, any documents based on or otherwise 
referencing these memos or the information in the memos?  If so, please provide copies of all 
such documents and, where necessary, clarify which portions are based on or related to the 
memos.  
 

8. Has the FBI verified or corroborated any of the allegations made in the memos?  Were any 
allegations or other information from the memo included in any documents created by the FBI, 
or which the FBI helped to create, without having been independently verified or corroborated 
by the FBI beforehand?  If so, why?   
 

9. Has the FBI relied on or otherwise referenced the memos or any information in the memos in 
seeking a FISA warrant, other search warrant, or any other judicial process?   Did the FBI rely 
on or otherwise reference the memos in relation to any National Security Letters?  If so, please 
include copies of all relevant applications and other documents.   
 

10. Who decided to include the memos in the briefings received by Presidents Obama and Trump? 
What was the basis for that decision? 
 

11. Did the agreement with Mr. Steele ever enter into force?  If so, for how long?  If it did not, why 
not?   
 

12. You have previously stated that you will not comment on pending investigations, including 
confirming or denying whether they exist.  You have also acknowledged that statements about 
closed investigations are a separate matter, sometimes warranting disclosures or public 
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comment.  Given the inflammatory nature of the allegations in Mr. Steele’s dossier, if the FBI 
is undertaking or has undertaken any investigation of the claims, will you please inform the 
Committee at the conclusion of any such investigations as to what information the 
investigations discovered and what conclusions the FBI reached?  Simply put, when allegations 
like these are put into the public domain prior to any FBI assessment of their reliability, then if 
subsequent FBI investigation of the allegations finds them false, unsupported, or unreliable, the 
FBI should make those rebuttals public.   
 
I anticipate that your responses to these questions may contain both classified and unclassified 

information.  Please send all unclassified material directly to the Committee.  In keeping with the 
requirements of Executive Order 13526, if any of the responsive documents do contain classified 
information, please segregate all unclassified material within the classified documents, provide all 
unclassified information directly to the Committee, and provide a classified addendum to the Office of 
Senate Security.  Although the Committee complies with all laws and regulations governing the 
handling of classified information, it is not bound, absent its prior agreement, by any handling 
restrictions or instructions on unclassified information unilaterally asserted by the Executive Branch. 

 
  Thank you for your prompt attention to this important matter.  If you have any questions, 

please contact Patrick Davis of my Committee staff at (202) 224-5225.   
 

Sincerely, 

 

      Charles E. Grassley    
Chairman  
Committee on the Judiciary 
 
 

cc: The Honorable Diane Feinstein 
Ranking Member  
Senate Committee on the Judiciary 
 
 
 
 



 

 

March 28, 2017 

VIA ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION 

The Honorable James B. Comey, Jr.   
Director      
Federal Bureau of Investigation 
935 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W. 
Washington, DC 20535  

Dear Director Comey: 
   
 At your speech last Thursday at the University of Texas, you referenced former FBI Director J. 
Edgar Hoover’s short letter to Attorney General Robert Kennedy, which sought authorization for FBI 
surveillance of Dr. Martin Luther King Jr. without any proper basis for doing so.  You mentioned that 
you keep this letter on your desk, and place FISA applications awaiting your review on top of it, as a 
reminder.  You cited this to emphasize the importance of oversight over the FBI, even over well-
meaning FBI officials, to ensure the propriety of the FBI’s actions.  You are right to call attention to 
the importance of such oversight.  As Chairman of the Senate Judiciary Committee, it is my 
constitutional duty to conduct that oversight over the FBI and the Department of Justice. 
 

Pursuant to its authority under the Constitution and the Rules of the Senate, the Committee 
requires information to determine: (1) the extent to which FBI Deputy Director Andrew McCabe has 
been involved in the FBI’s investigation of President Trump’s associates and Russia; (2) whether that 
involvement raises the appearance a conflict of interest in light of his wife’s ties with Clinton 
associates; and (3) whether Mr. McCabe has been or should be recused from the investigation. 

 
 As you know, Mr. McCabe is under investigation by the Department of Justice Office of the 

Inspector General.  That investigation is examining whether the political and financial connections 
between his wife’s Democratic political campaign and Clinton associates warranted his recusal in the 
FBI’s Clinton email investigation.  On March 7, 2015, just five days after the New York Times broke 
the story about Secretary Clinton’s use of private email for official business, Mr. McCabe met with 
Virginia Governor Terry McAuliffe, a longtime, close associate of the Clintons—along with his wife, 
Dr. McCabe.  Mr. McAuliffe recruited Dr. McCabe, who had not previously run for any political 
office, to be the Democratic candidate for a Virginia state senate seat.  Dr. McCabe agreed, and 
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Governor McAuliffe’s political action committee subsequently gave nearly $500,000 to her campaign 
while the FBI’s investigation of Secretary Clinton was ongoing.  The Virginia Democratic Party, over 
which Mr. McAuliffe exerts considerable control, also donated over $200,000 to Dr. McCabe’s 
campaign.  While Mr. McCabe recused himself from public corruption cases in Virginia—presumably 
including the reportedly ongoing investigation of Mr. McAuliffe regarding illegal campaign 
contributions—he failed to recuse himself from the Clinton email investigation, despite the appearance 
of a conflict created by his wife’s campaign accepting $700,000 from a close Clinton associate during 
the investigation.   

 
You have publicly stated that the people at the FBI “don’t give a rip about politics.”1  However, 

the fact is that the Deputy Director met with Mr. McAuliffe about his wife’s run for elected office and 
she subsequently accepted campaign funding from him.  The fact is that the Deputy Director 
participated in the controversial, high-profile Clinton email investigation even though his wife took 
money from Mr. McAuliffe.  These circumstances undermine public confidence in the FBI’s 
impartiality, and this is one of the reasons that many believe the FBI pulled its punches in the Clinton 
matter.  FBI’s senior leadership should never have allowed that appearance of a conflict to undermine 
the Bureau’s important work.  The Department of Justice Office of the Inspector General is now 
investigating that matter, as part of the work it announced on January 12, 2017. 
 

Last week, you publicly testified that in late July of 2016, the FBI began investigating the 
Russian government’s attempts to interfere in the 2016 presidential election, including investigating 
whether there was any collusion between individuals associated with the Trump campaign and the 
Russian government.  Given the timing of the investigation and his position, it is likely that Mr. 
McCabe has been involved in that high-profile, politically charged inquiry as well.  If Mr. McCabe 
failed to avoid the appearance of a partisan conflict of interest in favor of Mrs. Clinton during the 
presidential election, then any participation in this inquiry creates the exact same appearance of a 
partisan conflict of interest against Mr. Trump.  As you testified last week, you believe that if someone 
had a bias for or against one of them, he would have the opposite bias toward the other: “they’re 
inseparable, right; it’s a two person event.”  

 
 According to public reports, the FBI agreed to pay the author of the unsubstantiated dossier 
alleging a conspiracy between Trump associates and the Russians.  It reportedly agreed to pay the 
author, Christopher Steele, to continue investigating Mr. Trump.  Clinton associates reportedly paid 
Mr. Steele to create this political opposition research dossier against Mr. Trump.  The FBI has failed to 
publicly reply to my March 6 letter asking about those reports.  That leaves serious questions about the 
FBI’s independence from politics unanswered. 
 

Mr. McCabe’s appearance of a partisan conflict of interest relating to Clinton associates only 
magnifies the importance of those questions.  That is particularly true if Mr. McCabe was involved in 
approving or establishing the FBI’s reported arrangement with Mr. Steele, or if Mr. McCabe vouched 
for or otherwise relied on the politically-funded dossier in the course of the investigation.  Simply put, 
the American people should know if the FBI’s second-in-command relied on Democrat-funded 
opposition research to justify an investigation of the Republican presidential campaign.  Full disclosure 
is especially important since he is already under investigation for failing to recuse himself from the 
Clinton matter due to his partisan Democrat ties. 

                                                   
1 Evan Perez, FBI Chief on Clinton Investigation: My People ‘Don’t Give a Rip About Politics” CNN (Oct. 1, 2015). 
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     The Committee requires additional information to fully understand this situation.  Please 
provide the following information and respond to these questions by April 11, 2017:  
 

1. Has Mr. McCabe been involved in any capacity in the investigation of alleged collusion 
between Mr. Trump’s associates and Russia?  If so, in what capacity has he been involved?  
When did this involvement begin?  
 

2. Has Mr. McCabe been involved in any requests or approvals for physical surveillance, 
consensual monitoring, searches, or national security letters relating to the investigation?  If so, 
please provide all related documents.  
 

3. In the course of the investigation, has Mr. McCabe been involved in any requests or approvals 
relating to the acquisition of the contents of stored communications from electronic 
communication service providers pursuant to the Electronic Communications Privacy Act?  If 
so, please provide all related documents.  
 

4. Has Mr. McCabe been involved in any FISA warrant applications relating to the investigation?  
If so, in what capacity?  Please provide all related documents.  
 

5. In the course of the investigation, has Mr. McCabe, or anyone under his supervision, made any 
representations to prosecutors or judges regarding the reliability of information in the FBI’s 
possession as part of seeking judicial authorization for investigative tools?  Has he or anyone 
under his supervision made any such representations about the political opposition research 
dossier compiled by Mr. Steele and Fusion GPS?  If so, please explain and provide copies of all 
relevant documents.  
 

6. Was Mr. McCabe involved in any FBI interactions with Mr. Steele?  If so, please explain.  
 

7. Did Mr. McCabe brief or otherwise communicate with anyone in the Obama administration 
regarding the investigation?  If so, who did he brief, and when?  Please provide all related 
documents.  
 

8. Has Mr. McCabe been authorized by the FBI to speak to the media, whether as an anonymous 
source or otherwise, regarding the investigation?  If so, please provide copies of such 
authorizations.  If he was so authorized, to whom did he speak, and when?  If he was not 
authorized to do so, does the FBI have any indication that he nonetheless spoke to the media?  
 

9. To the best of your knowledge, has anyone within the FBI raised concerns within the Bureau 
that Mr. McCabe appears to have a conflict of interest in the investigation of Trump associates?  
If so, who raised such concerns, when did they do so, and how did FBI respond?   
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10. To the best of your knowledge, has anyone within the FBI filed a complaint with the 
Department of Justice Office of the Inspector General regarding Mr. McCabe’s involvement in 
the investigation?    
 

11. Have personnel from the Department of Justice Office of the Inspector General spoken with 
you yet as part of that Office’s investigation into Mr. McCabe’s alleged conflict of interest in 
the Clinton investigation?  If so, did they also raise concerns as to whether Mr. McCabe’s 
alleged partisan conflict would also apply to the investigation of Mr. Trump’s associates?  
 

12. Has anyone at FBI, the Department of Justice, or the Department of Justice Office of the 
Inspector General recommended or requested that Mr. McCabe recuse himself from the 
investigation of Mr. Trump’s associates or from any ongoing investigations of the Clinton 
Foundation?  If so, what action was taken in response?  
 
I anticipate that your responses to these questions may contain both classified and unclassified 

information.  Please send all unclassified material directly to the Committee.  In keeping with the 
requirements of Executive Order 13526, if any of the responsive documents do contain classified 
information, please segregate all unclassified material within the classified documents, provide all 
unclassified information directly to the Committee, and provide a classified addendum to the Office of 
Senate Security.  Although the Committee complies with all laws and regulations governing the 
handling of classified information, it is not bound, absent its prior agreement, by any handling 
restrictions or instructions on unclassified information unilaterally asserted by the Executive Branch. 

 
  Thank you for your prompt attention to this important matter.  If you have any questions, 

please contact Patrick Davis of my Committee staff at (202) 224-5225.   
 

Sincerely, 

 

      Charles E. Grassley    
Chairman  
Committee on the Judiciary 
 
 

cc: The Honorable Dianne Feinstein 
Ranking Member  
Senate Committee on the Judiciary 
 
The Honorable Dana Boente 
Acting Deputy Attorney General 
United States Department of Justice 
 
The Honorable Michael E. Horowitz 
Inspector General 
United States Department of Justice 
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